THE ATMOSPHERIC AEROSOL

L. DUFOUR

Translated by Gienn B. Hoidale March 1969

ATROSPILSIC SCIENCES LABORATORY

WHITE SANDS MISSILE RANGE, NEW MEXICO

Distribution of this report is unlimited

11 243

51

120

ECOMI BECOMI BECTROMICS COMMANNE

A DECKERY STRUCTURE

1

8 9

#

45

() () ()

65 69

e

AD 685851

and the second sec

THE ATMOSPHERIC AEROSOL

By

L. Dufcur

Translated by Glenn B. Hoidale March 1969

DA TASK 1T061102B53A-18

ATMOSPHERIC SCIENCES LABORATORY WHITE SANL3 MISSILE RANGE, NEW MEXICO

Distribution of this report is unlimited.

THE ATMOSPHERIC AEROSOL

BY

L. DUFOUR

TABLE OF CONTENTS

1. Introduction

2. Granulometry

2.1. Granulometry near the ground

2.1.1.	General
2.1.2.	Aitken nuclei
2.1.3.	Large nuclei
2.1.4.	Giant nuclei
2.1.5.	Remarks

2.2. Granulometry aloft

- 2.2.1. General 2.2.2. Aitken nuclei 2.2.3. Large nuclei 2.2.4. Giant nuclei 2.2.5. Remarks
- 3. Chemical properties of the nuclei

3.1. Formation of the nuclei

3.1.1. Classification of the mechanisms of formation

3.1.2. Mechanisms resulting from combustion

- 3.1.3. Mechanisms resulting from chemical reactions
- 3.1.4. Mechanisms resulting from the release of particles from the earth's surface
 - 3.1.4.1. Release of liquid particles
 - 3.1.4.2. Release of solid particles
- 3.1.5. Mechanisms resulting from the entry into the atmosphere of particles of cosmic origin

and a second second second second

iii

3.2. Chemical composition of the atmospheric aerosol

4. Physical properties of the nuclei

4.1. Movement of the nuclei

4.1.1. Resistance of the air to the movement of nuclei4.1.2. Terminal fall speed of the nuclei4.1.3. Effect of turbulence on the sedimentation of nucl 5

4.2. Coagulation of the atmospheric aerosol

4.2.1. General4.2.2. Fundamental equations of Brownian motion4.2.3. Capture of nuclei by a sphere4.2.4. Thermal coagulation of the atmospheric aerosol

4.3. Atmospheric scavenging

4.4. Remarks

i۷

1. Introduction

The atmospheric aerosol may be defined as humid air in which small liquid or solid particles are more or less irregularly dispersed, the largest of these particles being sufficiently small to remain in suspension in the atmosphere for a certain time. The liquid or solid particles consisting of clouds, precipitation and of certain atmospheric phenomena are only considered to constitute part of this aerosol.

The solid or liquid particles contained in the atmospheric aerosol are generally referred to as "condensation nuclei". This appelation is innumentally correct since all particles of the atmospheric derosol, whatever their physical or chemical properties might be, can play the role of condensation nuclei, if the air is sufficiently supersaturated with water vapor. However, since the relative humidity* of the atmosphere rarely exceeds 101%, only a part of these particles are truly condensation nuclei.

*Remember that relative humidity, indicatory of the humidity of the air often used in meteorology, is defined by the formula

$$u = 100(P_v/P_{v_{\infty}}^*)$$

where P_v is the partial pressure of water vapor and P_v^* the saturation vapor pressure, in the presence of a plane surface of pure water at the same pressure and the same temperature as the air.

When the air is saturated with respect to a plane surface of pure water $(P_v = P_v^{\star})$, the relative humidity is equal to 100%. When the air is supersaturated with respect to a plane surface of pure water $(P_v > P_v^{\star})$, the humidity is greater than 100%; when the air is not saturated with respect to such a surface $(P_v < P_v^{\star})$, the relative humidity is less than 100%.

This is why we only use the expression "condensation nuclei" in the very precise case of those nuclei about which the droplets form. In order to distinguish the particles of the atmospheric aerosol, we simply use the term "nuclei" because it has been established by usage. However, it sometimes can lead to confusion. The radii* of atmospheric nuclei extend from about $5X10^{-3}$; to 20,

 $(1. = 10^{-4} \text{ cm})$; therefore, the spectrum of radii of atmospheric nuclei, expressed in 4, extends over nearly four orders of magnitude. These limits are somewhat arbitrary, especially the upper limit. It has been selected because nuclei having a radius greater than 20; can only remain in suspension in the atmosphere for a limited time, due to the effect of sedimentation (see 4.1.3.); thus they can only be observed near the source which gave birth to them. As for the lower limit of

 5×10^{-3} , it arises because nuclei having radii smaller than this dimension have an ephemeral existence; as a matter of fact they are rapidly captured by the larger nuclei through the effect of Brownian motion (see 4.2.4.). By way or comparison, let us recall that the radius of a molecule is, in general, between 10^{-3} and 10^{-4} a.

*The notion of dimension of a nucleus is still more ambiguous than that of ralius of a nucleus. Numerous definitions, which we won't take up, have been proposed to rectify this ambiguity. In our case, we shall consider an average radius.

In the case of the atmospheric aerosol one studies, in general, classes of nuclei. Actually, according to Junge (1952), one distinguishes three classes of nuclei: Aitken nuclei ($r \le 0.1\mu$), large nuclei ($0.1\mu \le r \le 1\mu$) and giant nuclei ($r \ge 1^{\circ}$).

2. Granulometry of nuclei

2.1. Granulometry near the ground

2.1.1. General

According to Junge (1963b), the average distribution over the continent and over the ocean of the volume concentration** n of the nuclei as a function of their radius r takes the form indicated in Fig. 1. This figure is sufficiently clear that interpretation is

CAPTION Figure 1. Average distribution over the continent (Curve C) and over the ocean (Curve O) of the concentration n of atmospheric nuclei as a function of their radius r (Junge, 1963b)

**When the type of concentration is not specified, it is understood that it refers to a volume concentration. not necessary. One salient feature of the distribution over the contirent is the straight line portion between 0.1_U and 10_U from which it follows that in this interval the relation between the radius r and the concentration n of the nuclei follows a law of the form

$$n = Cr^{-1} \tag{1}$$

where C is a constant and where .=3. If the nuclei are assumed to be spherical, it follows that in the interval under consideration, the total volume, V, of the nuclei of a given radius is constant for a unit volume of air since

$$V = n \frac{4}{3} - r^{3} = \frac{4}{3} - C$$
 (2)

2.1.2. Aitken nuclei

These nuclei and called Aitken because their concentration can be easily determined with the aid of an Aitken nuclei counter. The principle of this instrument is as follows: a given volume of saturated atmospheric air is suddenly expanded; the resultant supersaturation is determined so that droplets are formed around those nuclei having diameters greater than about $5X10^{-3}$; then the number of droplets formed are counted and divided by the volume of the sample of air to obtain the Aitken nuclei concentration. This number, in reality, gives a measure of the total concentration of atmospheric nuclei with the exception of that portion due to small ions. However, noting the relatively low concentration of large nuclei and giant nuclei compared to that of Aitken nuclei (see Fig. 1), it may be assumed that the measured values correspond to Aitken nuclei.

The small ions, to which we have already referred, are produced by cosmic rays, radioactive radiation, electrical discharges, etc., which serve to detach an electron from a molecule causing the formation of a positive ion. The liberated electrons rapidly attach themselves to other molecules to form negative ions.

The ions can become attached to atmospheric nuclei to form large ions, which in turn may be subdivided into several groups according to radius (see, for example, Israel and Schulz, 1932):

Large medium ions	$8 \times 10^{-3} \le r < 2.5 \times 10^{-2}$.
Langevin ions	2.6×10^{-2} μ_{12} r $< 5.5 \times 10^{-2}$.
Ultralarge ions	$r \ge 5.5 \times 10^{-2} v$

The atmospheric ions, once formed, behave like nuclei and participate, for example, in Brownian motion. Yet the small ions aren't considered part of the atmospheric aerosol because they cease to exist when their charge is neutralized, which is different from large ions which continue to exist as Aitken nuclei when this phenomenon occurs. Noting the small size $(6X10^{-4} \mu mean)$ and the relatively low concentration (several hundred per cm³) of the small ions, they can be neglected in cloud physics but not in atmospheric electricity where their role is fundamental.

The concentration of Aitken nuclei near the ground varies markedly in time and space (see, for example, Landsberg, 1938; Burckhart and Flohn, 1939). For a long time these variations gave the impression that Aitken nuclei play a fundamental role in the formation of clouds and precipitation. This belief started research on this subject in the wrong direction, and it is for this reason that the roles played by large nuclei in the formation of cloud droplets and by the giant nuclei in the formation of precipitation have been realized so late.

Table 1, due to Landsberg (1938), gives an idea of the variation in concentration of Aitken nuclei as a function of the place of observation. For example, from this table it is seen that the mean concentration is much greater in large cities than over the ocean. Also, it is seen that the minimum concentration can be very low in unpolluted regions which has been confirmed by Fenn (1960) who observed concentrations of several nuclei per cm³ in Greenland.

Location		Number		Maximum	Minimum	Maximum	Minimum
	<u>of sites</u>	of observations	Mean	Mean		Absolute	
Large city	28	2,500	147,000	379,000	49,000	4,000,000	3,500
City	15	4,700	34,300	114,000	5,900	400,000	620
Open Country	25	3,500	9,500	66,500	1,050	336,000	180
Sea coast	21	2,700	9,500	33,400	1,560	150,000	ი
Island	7	480	9,200	43,600	460	109,000	80
Ocean	21	600	940	4,860	840	39,800	

TABLE 1. Concentration per cm^3 of Aitken nuclei at various locations

The result of this variation as a function of the place of observation is that Aitken nuclei are unquestionably of continental or artificial origin.

The size distribution of Aitken nuclei can be determined by measuring their diffusion coefficient (see, for example, Nolan and Doherty, 1950) or

4

by measuring their mobility in an electrical field (due, for example, Israël and Schulz, 1932). It can also be determined, as done by Linke (1943) and Hosler (1950), by capturing the droplets formed in an Aitken counter on a reticule and observing the residue under an electron microscope.

Measurements based on the mobility of Aitken nuclei in an electrical field (see, for example, Israël and Schulz, 1932; Junge, 1955) indicate that these nuclei are grouped about certain preferred radii. They also show that the lower limit of the radius of these nuclei varies from one day to the next and is on the average 4×10^{-3} ... As for the radius corresponding to the maximum concentration of these nuclei, it varies between 10^{-2} and 10^{-1} u, its most frequent value being in the neighborhood of 3×10^{-2} u.

Recent measurements on the granulometry of Aitken nuclei have been carried out by Twomey and Severynse (1964) with the aid of a method whereby measurement is made of the total concentration of nuclei at various stages of their diffusional decay. These authors have shown that the variation of the concentration of nuclei of radius from 5×10^{-3} , to 2×10^{-1} , is not continuous. There is a sharp minimum, corresponding to an absence of nuclei, in the vicinity of $r = 1.5\times10^{-2}$, and a relatively stable and well marked maximum through $r = 6\times10^{-2}$, a value slightly greater than that of 3×10^{-2} , found by Junge (1955).

No farther emphasis will be placed on the secondary role of Aitken nuclei: in atmospheric optics; in atmospheric chemistry because their mass represents a maximum of 10 to 20% of the total mass of the nuclei (Junge, 1963b) and also in microphysics of clouds because the atmospheric droplets (clouds, fog) are normally formed on large and giant nuclei, the exception being around large Aitken nuclei.

2.1.3. Large nuclei

There are several methods for studying the granulometry of these nuclei: capture by spider web (see, for example, Dessens, 1946, 1949), capture by impaction on an obstacle (conimeter) (see, for example, May, 1945; Junge, 1953), thermal precipitation (see, for example, Watson, 1936), etc. Obtaining samples by these methods offers no particular difficulties, but the analysis of these samples is long and tedious. The analysis is particularly difficult for the small radii, the limit of resolution for the optical microscope being about 0.3% and measurements with the electron microscope being inexact because of the evaporation of volacile substances from the nuclei resulting from the increase in temperature due to electron bombardment. A recently developed instrument, the Goetz aerosol spectrophotometer (1957) (see also Goetz and Preining, 1960; Goetz and Kallai, 1964) based on the principle of

.

centrifugal separation, allows one to obtain reliable date on the concentration of nuclei in the radius range of 0.015 to 1.5.

Over the continent, the average concentration of large machei varies generally between 10^{-7} per cm³ for r = 0.1, and lo pet cm² for r = 1. (see Fig. 1, Curve C). Over the ocean the variation is less marked and more irregular (see Fig. 1, Curve 0), at least that is what seens to result from the interpretation of the limited data available on this subject.

Individual distributions can vary markedly from the average distribution, especially in cities and in industrial areas where the concentration of large nuclei is particularly high.

Measurements of atmospheric light scattering carried out be Fenn (1964) have shown that atmospheric publei in the $5X10^{-2}$, to 1, radius range are divided into a discrete number of size groups, more or less well defined, separated by very pronounced minima of concentration. The number of groups increases with an increase in the total concentration of the nuclei, accordingly with an increase in pollution. The envelope of the concentration maxima follows Junge's size distribution law (Eq. 1), v decreasing from 3 in the case of a clear atmosphere to 2 in the case of an industrially polluted atmosphere.

With the aid of an aerosol photometer, Fenn, Gerber and Weickmann (1965) studied the size distribution of atmospheric nuclei in the range from 0.05µ to 1µ radius. The average distributions which they found in different areas free from atmospheric pollution are irregular and consist of several maxima separated by well defined minima. The curve of Junge (Eq. 1) gives a very good approximation of the envelope of the concentration maxima for the values of v varying with location, but in all cases falling between 2 and 4. One of these maxima, corresponding to a radius between 0.1µ and 0.15µ is observed at all continental stations and also, according to Goetz (1965) over the ocean. According to Fenn, Gerber and Teickmann (1965), this would seem to indicate that large nuclei of this size constitute the natural background of the atmospheric aerosol.

Large nuclei play an important role in: atmospheric chemistry where they represent more than 40% of the total mass of the nuclei (Junge, 1963b), in atmospheric optics because they scatter light and especially in the formation of atmospheric droplets (clouds, fog) because they constitute the veritable nuclei of condensation.

2.1.4. Giant nuclei

These nuclei can be studied by several methods: capture on plates or on rods exposed to the wind (see, for example, Woodcock, 1952), capture by precipitation (see, for example, Junge, 1953), capture by sedimentation (see, for example, Junge, 1953), etc. As was the case with the large nuclei, the obtaining of samples presents no special difficulty, but their analysis is long and tedious.

According to Fig. 1 the average concentration of giant nuclei, the discovery of which is due to Woodcock and Gifford (1949), varies between 10 per cm³ for $r = 1\mu$ and about 10^{-2} per cm³ for $r = 10\mu$.

Over the ocean the concentration of this class of nuclei increases with wind speed, but the increase is more marked for the nuclei of great size (Woodcock, 1.53).

The overage concentration of giant nuclei also varies geographically. Isono, Komabayasi, Takahashi and Gonda (1966) estimated that for Japan this concentration falls between 10 and 10^2 nuclei per cm³. This order of magnitude is the same as that given earlier by Toba and Tanaka (1963) and is not very different from that found by Woodcock (1953) in the United States. In Hungary, according to Meszaros (1964), the concentration of giant chloride nuclei rarely exceeds 10^{-2} per cm³ and on the average is on the order of 10^{-3} per cm³, a value which differs slightly from that found by Kumai (1965) in Alaska (0.9 to $1.6X10^{-3}$ per cm³).

Variations in the concentration of giant nuclei have also been observed as a function of the atmospheric condition. As an example, according to Ramana Murty, Srivastava and Kapoor (1962) the average value of this concentration is significantly greater during the monsoon (July to September) than during the other months of the year. Although these authors have observed marked diurnal variations in the concentration of this class of nuclei, it can be said that the concentration is, in general, relatively constant, certainly more constant in all cases than with the large nuclei and especially than with the Aitken nuclei.

The giant nuclei are important in atmospheric chemistry; in effect they represent, in spite of their low concentration, more than 40% of the total mass of the nuclei (Junge, 1963b). These nuclei are of little effect in the formation of cloud droplets, but they seem, on the contrary, to play a fundamental role in the formation of rain.

2.1.5. Remarks

65.0000

It follows from this brief examination of the granulometry of atmospheric nuclei that several methods may be simultaneously employed to obtain a complete spectrum of these nuclei. Considering the problems which such a determination poses (see, for example, Lodge, 1962), it is not surprising that there are 50 few complete spectra of atmospheric nuclei.

Concerning the average spectrum of the continental aerosol (Fig. 1), it should be pointed out that it is of limited value, although based on a large number of observations, because these observations have been made by different methods, the accuracies of which are not necessarily the same.

Observations made by Metnieks (1958) in Ireland in maritime air masses have shown that chloride nuclei of radius greater than $C.15\mu$ at 80% relative humidity pass through a maximum at a radius of about 0.25μ . This value is close to that found earlier by Rau (1955) and agrees relatively well with that estimated by Junge (1963b) in extrapolating the observations of Woodcock (1953). Recently, Goetz (1965) found that the distribution of the concentration of large nuclei exhibited a maximum for a radius between 0.15μ and 0.2μ when the ocean was calm and the wind speed from 0 to 5 km h^{-1} , which agrees with earlier results.

Taking these results into consideration, the differences in concentration of Aitken nuclei over the continent and over the ocean and of the composition of the atmospheric aerosol, Junge (1963b) estimated the most probable form of the average spectrum of an oceanic aerosol (Fig. 1, Curve 0). This spectrum has very limited value, especially since it is based on hypothesis for the part relative to Aitken nuclei and to large nuclei.

2.2. Granulometry aloft

2.2.1. Introduction

For a number of years it has been known that the atmospheric aerosol decreases with altitude up to the stratosphere.

Qualitatively this phenomenon is displayed in the upper troposphere and in the stratosphere in several ways: observations of nacreous clouds and crepuscular phenomena; observation of the decrease in atmospheric transparency from meteorite showers and from the color of the moon during eclipses of the moon; observation of dry haze layers from aircraft or from rising balloons; measurements of the electrical conductivity of the air, etc. (see, for example, Junge, Chagnon and Manson, 1961; Newkirk and Kroening, 1965).

However, quantitive observations of the stratospheric aerosol have only been available for a few years, thanks to the work of Junge, Chagnon and Manson (1961), of Chagnon and Junge (1961), of Junge and Manson (1961), of Junge (1961, 1963a), of Hodge (1961) and of Mossop (1965).

2.2.2. Aitken nuclei

As for the vertical variation of Aitken nuclei, the atmosphere may be divided into four layers (see Fig. 2).

CAPTION Figure 2. Mean vertical profiles of the concentration of Aitken nuclei as a function of altitude (Junge, 1963a)

- 1. Sioux Falls, United States
- 2. Hyderabad, India
- 3. Northeast United States (Weickmann, 1957)
- 4. Mean temperature profile, Hyderabad, India

The first layer extends from the ground up to an altitude of about 5 km. In this layer the decrease of the average concentration of these nuclei is exponential, the coefficients varying at first rapidly, then more slowly, with height. According to Junge (1961), the concentration of Aitken nuclei is from 60 to 600 nuclei per cm³ at 5 km, the most frequent value being between 200 and 300 nuclei per cm³. These values are greater than those determined by Wigand (1919) and by Weickmann (1957) which, according to Junge (1961), resulted from the fact that these authors did not take into account the effect of the decrease in pressure with altitude in their measurements. They are less than those found by Selezneva (1965), which probably resulted from the fact that this author carried out his observations in summer, only when there was convection. The latter observations show important differences between the curves of the average values of concentration at different locations.

Individual curves of the vertical distribution of the concentration of Aitken nuclei in this layer differ markedly from the average curves to the point that one asks himself what this curve physically represents. The deviations are particularly important near the ground as confirmed by the observations carried out by Tester (1964) in the United States on the slopes of Little White Face Mountain between 365 and 1118 m altitude. Furthermore, it is a well-known fact that there are dry haze layers in the lower troposphere, layers which can be seen from the ground in an anticyclonic regime. Quite often one observes marked variations in the concentration of Aitken nuclei in passing through temperature inversions, as has been shown, for example, by Sagalyn and Faucher (1954), as well as Weickmann (1957). The concentration of these nuclei is also, in general, greater inside fair weather cumulus than outside as Weickmann (1966) has recently shown.

The distribution of concentration of Aitken nuclei in this portion of the atmosphere varies also according to season: the decrease with height is more marked in winter than in summer, which may be accounted for by the fact that convection is more intense during the warm portion than during the cold portion of the year. This distribution also varies according to the general atmospheric situation. The decrease is certainly more marked in an anticyclonic regime than in a cyclonic regime; unfortunately, accurate data on this subject are lacking, the observations having been made nearly always in fair weather, i.e., anticyclonic regime. Also in this connection it is worthy of note that the average altitude of the top of this layer of the atmosphere is certainly greater than 5 km in cyclonic conditions.

The second layer of the atmosphere is one in which the average concentration of Aitken nuclei is quasi-constant. According to observations made at 44° north latitude in the United States, this layer extends from about 5 km to the tropopause, the average altitude of which was about 12 km at the time of the observations. The average concentration of the nuclei actually varies between 350 nuclei per cm³ near 5 km and 200 nuclei per cm³ at the tropopause, a variation which may be considered as practically nil compared to that observed between the ground and 5 km. The individual distributions, contrary to that which occurs in the lower troposphere, differ little from the average distribution. According to observations made at 17° north latitude over India, this quasi-constant average concentration of Aitken nuclei doesn't extend up to the tropopause, situated at about 17 km at the time of the observations, but up to about 13 km. This altitude coincides with a change of temperature gradient which, according to Junge (1963a), could correspond to an extension of the midlatitude tropopause beyond 30° north latitude toward tropical regions. In India the average concentration of Aitken nuclei varies between 200 nuclei per cm^3 near 5 km to 80 nuclei per cm^3 at 13 km, values less than those observed over the United States.

The third layer of the atmosphere, in which the average concentration of Aitken nuclei decreases exponentially, extends up to an altitude of about 17 km. It is located in the lower stratosphere over the United States and in the high troposphere over India. The decrease is more pronounced over the United States than over India; the average concentrations at 17 km are, respectively over these two are as of the globe, 1 nuclei and 10 nuclei per cm³.

The fourth layer of the atmosphere, in which the average concentration of Aitken nuclei is quasi-constant, extends up to about 27 km, the upper limit of reliable observations. The lower limit of detectability of the apparatus used is about 1 nuclei per cm³, an average value already reached at 17 km over the United States and at 20 km over India. In this connection, it should be noted that observations of nacreous clouds, which usually form between 25 and 30 km, indicate that the concentration of the aqueous particles constituting these clouds is several particles per cm³ (see, for example, Hesstvedt, 1959). There are no experimental data on the distribution of the concentration of Altken nuclei as a function of their radius, in the tratosphere. Junge, Chagnon and Manson (1961) have theoretically estimated that the average radius of these nuclei was $0.04_{\rm P}$ in hypothesizing that this distribution was the result of the combined action of the phenomena of coagulation and turbulent diffusion.

2.2.3. Large nuclei

For the vertical variation of large nuclei, the atmosphere may be divided vertically into three parts (see Fig. 3).

CAPTION Figure 3. Vertical profiles of the concentration of large nuclei as a function of altitude (Chagnon and Junge, 1961)

Individual stratospheric profiles in the northern part of the Middle west in the United States. Mean tropospheric profiles in Germany (Rossmann, 1950; Siedentopf, 1950). Mean tropospheric profile based on radiation measurements (Pennderf, 1954) and adjusted for agreement with the observations of Chagnon and Junge (1961) at 10 km altitude.

The first part, in which the average concentration of the nuclei decreases nearly exponentially (see Rossmann, 1950; Reeger and Siedentopf, 1950), extends from the ground up to an altitude of about 5 km. The second part, in which, according to qualitative optical measurements carried out by Penndorf (1954), this concentration is quasi-constant, extends from about 5 km to the tropopause. Combining these observations with those made near the tropopause over the United States where the altitude was about 12 km at the time of the measurements, Chagnon and Junge (1961) estimated that the boundary between these two parts of the atmosphere was situated at about 5 km and furthermore that the average concentration at this altitude was close to $3X10^{-2}$ nuclei per cm³.

The third part of the atmosphere, according to observations made over the United States, is characterized by the existence of a persistent layer of nuclei, situated between 16 and 23 km, in which the maximum concentration of approximately 10^{-1} nuclei per cm³ is observed at about 20 km. Below this layer the average concentration of large nuclei increases almost exponentially from the tropopause where this concentration is, as we have seen, about 3×10^{-2} nuclei per cm³. Above this layer, the average concentration of large nuclei decreases up to about 27 km, the upper limit of the observations, where the concentration is variable and in the neighborhood, generally, of an average of 10^{-2} nuclei per cm³. Certain individual profiles seem to indicate a new increase in concentration of nuclei at 25 km; further observations are necessary before it can be decided if this increase is real or fictitious. The observations made in India, at 17° north latitude, have shown a similar profile, the concentration maximum, however, being situated at a higher level but at practically the same distance from the tropopause. Aircraft observations at 20 km altitude have confirmed the existence of a continuous layer of large nuclei between the latitudes of 60°S and 70°N.

Similar profiles have been qualitatively shown by Elterman and Campbell (1964) from measurements of the light scattered from the beam of a vertically directed searchlight and by Bigg (1964) from measurements of the light scattered by the twilight sky. From simultaneous observations at different latitudes, this author has also shown that the vertical distribution of large nuclei retains the same form over horizontal distances not exceeding 300 km. It should also be noted that the altitude of the layers which strongly scatter light increases on the average from the pole to the equator.

There are few observations of the distribution of the concentration of large nuclei as a function of their radius in the troposphere. According to measurements of Fenn, Gerber and Weickmann (1965) at 2000m, 4000 m and 6000 m, this distribution is irregular and resembles that which these authors found near the ground.

There are more observations on the granulometry of large nuclei in the stratosphere. According to Junge, Chagnon and Manson (1961), the average distribution of concentration of these nuclei as a function of their radius can be represented by Eq. 1 in which v = 2. This straight line distribution differs from the parabolic distribution found by Mossop (1965) and by Friend (1966). (See Fig. 4.)

CAPTION Figure 4. Stratospheric distribution of the concentration n of large nuclei as a function of their radius. Curve 1, Chagnon and Junge, 1961; Curve 2, Mossop, 1965; Curve 3, Friend, 1966.

Further observations are necessary to escablish whether these differences are real or due to the fact that the samples have not been taken on the same date or over the same locale or even if they appear and result from the method of reducing the data.

2.2.4. Giant nuclei

Current knowledge of the vertical distribution of giant nuclei in the lower troposphere is very contradictory; therefore, we shall restrict ourselves to extricating the broad outline.

Above the oceans the average concentration of giant sea salt nuclei in general decreases almost exponentially with altitude. In spite of this decrease the distribution of the concentration as a function of the dimension of the nuclei remains almost constant. Occasionally, especially when the wind is light, the concentration increases for a few hundred meters before decreasing (see Lodge, 1955; Woodcock, 1953 and 1957; Durbin and White, 1961).

Above the continents, according to Byers, Sievers and Tufts (1957), the average concentration of giant sea salt nuclei is relatively constant with altitude except for several tens of meters close to the ground where it decreases sharply. These authors attribute this reduction to the capture of the nuclei by obstacles situated near the ground such as trees. In Czechoslovakia, Podzimek and Cernoch (1961), in disagreement with Byers, Sievers and Tufts (1957), have measured the greatest concentrations near the ground and have concluded, on that basis, that the majority of giant chloride nuclei was of continental origin. In Hungary, Meszaros (1964) found profiles in agreement with those of these authors, the decrease, however, ceasing at several hundreds of meters above the ground, which he attributed principally to thermal convection.

These contradictions are probably only apparent, the vertical distribution of the giant nuclei depending strongly on the geographical and thermal conditions. According to Laktionov (1960), the concentration of nuclei of radius greater than 4μ is relatively constant under halcyon skies between 100 and 1000 m. The value of this concentration is, however, strongly dependent on the nature of the ground cover; it is, for example, 100 times lower over snow and over the ocean than over the desert and the steppes. Also, according to Semonin (1966) certain industrial zones are very good sources of giant hygroscopic nuclei, which brings up the question of knowing up to what point the hypothesis that giant chloride nuclei observed at altitude far in the interior of the continent (Crozier, Seely and Wheeler, 1952; Twomey, 1955; Byers, Sievers and Tufts, 1957) are of maritime origin is acceptable. Other systematic observations are necessary to clarify the answers to these questions.

Limited data available on the granulometry of giant nuclei in the upper troposphere and in the stratosphere indicate that they are not numerous which, based on their mass, appears reasonable. According to Junge, Chagnon and Manson (1961) it seems that their concentration varies markedly with time in the stratosphere.

2.2.5. Remarks

The fact that the profile of Aitken nuclei in the troposphere is qualitatively the same as that of the large nuclei proves that the effect of sedimentation is not involved in the establishment of these profiles, since they are independent of the radius of the nuclei. This result is theoretically explicable since calculation indicates that sedimentation begins to be effective only for those giant nuclei of great size.

It should be noted that the concentration of Aitken nuclei in the upper troposphere is quasi-constant over the continents and of the same order of magnitude as at the surface of the ocean. This concentration of 100 to 300 nuclei per cm^3 is close to the concentration of 200 nuclei per cm³ observed by Dav (1955) in pure maritime air at 2 km altitude near the coast over England and the Atlantic. These facts led Junge (1963b) to acknowledge that the Aitken nuclei concentration is nearly constant in the troposphere both horizontally and vertically, except for the first five kilometers over the continents and in their previmity over the occan. Therefore, the continents constitute the source of Aitken nuclei which spread out vertically by turbulent diffusion and aorizontally by advection. As for the average concentration of 200 to 300 nuclei observed in the upper troposphere over the continents and all the troposphere over the oceans, it constitutes an equilibrium value resulting from the action of different physical processes acting on this concentration.

The proceeding considerations also theoretically apply to large nuclei. Unfortunately there is very little observational data on this class of nuclei on which to verify this hypothesis.

The decrease of the concentration of Aitken nuclei above the tropopause implies that the majority of these nuclei are of tropospheric origin. Different processes can be envisioned to explain how they penetrate into the stratosphere; actually there are too few data upon which to base a theory on this subject.

According to Junge, Chagnon and Manson (1961), the shape of the profile of the nuclei in the stratosphere indicates that these nuclei ought to form in situ between 16 and 23 km (see 3.1.3.). The existence of a continuous layer of large nuclei in this part of the atmosphere can in effect be difficult to explain otherwise, unless the nuclei penetrate and spread out in the stratosphere, which does not seem probable. It is not the opinion of Martell (1966) who, based on observations of the radioactivity of atmospheric nuclei and on chemical considerations relative to their composition, thinks that there are many sulfate Aitken nuclei of great size in the upper troposphere which could explain the formation of large nuclei in the stratosphere by coagulation

3. Chemical properties of the nuclei

3.1. Formation of the nuclei

3.1.1. Classification of the mechanisms of formation

There are a great number of mechanisms for forming atmospheric nuclei, mechanisms which may be classified in four categories according to whether their formation results from combustion, chemical reactions in the atmosphere, the dislodging of liquid or solid particles from the surface of the earth or the entry of particles of cosmic origin into the atmosphere.

3.1.2. Mechanisms resulting from combustion

At the time of natural (volcanic eruptions, brush fires, etc.) or artificial (domestic fires, industrial fires, etc.) combustion, the volatile products of combustion evaporate or sublimate and emerge into the atmosphere at an elevated temperature. The vapors thus formed, of which the saturation pressure is in general low, cool quickly by mixing with the atmospheric air and because of this become highly supersaturated (a few hundreds and even thousands of percent). As a consequence of this high supersaturation, there are formed, by homogeneous or heterogeneous nucleation, nuclei of which the radii are inversely dependent on the degree of supersaturation; in general these are Aitken nuclei but also large nuclei and even giant nuclei.

The nonvolatile combustion products which emerge into the atmosphere are burned or partially burned products. They are, consequently, friable and break easily under the action of the wind. The nuclei thus formed have an average radius of the order of lu and are, therefore, mostly large nuclei.

Principally in the troposphere and especially in the lower troposphere these mechanisms are active. They can also cause the formation of nuclei in the stratosphere, in particular at the time of volcanic eruptions, as shown by Mossop (1964).

3.1.3. Mechanisms resulting from chemical reactions

In the atmosphere there is a wide variety of gases of low concentration. They are formed principally in industrial regions during combustion. They also result from the decomposition of animal and plant substances, from animal and plant life, and from the fermentation in swamps, etc.

Principally under the action of heat, of humidity, or of short wavelength radiation, certain of these gases can inter-react. For example, NH₂Cl can be formed by the reaction of NH₃ and of HCl, or S0₂ can be oxidized to form H₂SO₄; still other reactions are possible. The qualitative study of these reactions has been tackled, but their quantitative study remains to be done (see, for example, Cauer, 1951 and Junge, 1963b). In general the nuclei which are formed are also Aitkon nuclei. The substances resulting from these reactions can also give birth to large nuclei or to giant nuclei. According to Junge and Manson (1961), that is what would be produced in the stratosphere where the sulfate, resulting from the oxidation of SO₂ or of H₂S under the effect of ozone and short wavelength radiation, would agglomerate around Aitken nuclei to form large nuclei.

- 3.1.4. Mechanisms resulting from the release of particles from the surface of the earth
 - 3.1.4.1. Release of liquid particles

Two mechanisms are usually called upon to explain the formation of nuclei on the oceans: atomization of water thrust upward from the sea (spray) under the action of the wind and bursting of air bubbles at the surface of the sea.

The sprays in general consist of large droplets which, by virtue of their fall speed, cannot remain in suspension in the air for very long and therefore don't penetrate deeply into the interior of the land.

Facy (1951) pointed out that the assemblage of small waves forming foam give birth, outside of a few large droplets comparable in size to those of fog, to a great number of very small droplets of radius between 0.02μ and 1μ . The same phenomenon is produced at the time of the bursting of bubbles which form from air, entrapped by the falling back of the crest of the wave, reappearing at the surface of the water. According to Blanchard and Woodcock (1957), the radius of these bubbles is quite variable, but less than 100μ for the majority of them.

The mechanism of bursting of bubbles has been studied using high speed photography. Kientzler, Arons, Blanchard and Woodcock (1954) as well as Knelman, Dombrowski and Newitt (1954), found that the bubbles became thinner in the upper portion as they reached the surface, then burst; at the time of bursting, the water which falls in the cavity which is formed emerges at the center of this depression in an unstable vertical jet the upper part of which breaks, giving rise to several large droplets (see Fig. 5). The relation between the radius of these droplets and that of the bubble which gave rise to them has been examined by Moore and Mason (1954) who found that the radius of the droplets is about ten times smaller than that of the bubble which gave rise to them.

CAPTION Figure 5. Nechanism of release of bubbles from the surface of the sea (Mason, 1954). The large droplets, G, are formed when the vertical jet breaks and the small droplets, g, when the upper part of the bubble bursts.

The mechanism of the formation of fine droplets at the time of the bursting of the upper part of the bubble is difficult to study because the duration of the bursting is on the order of a mic, second and also because these droplets are so small that they evaporate rapidly of permal humidity. The first quantitative observations of the number of these droplets are due to Mason (1954, 1957). He showed that the rupture of the wall of a large bubble of sea water produces hundreds of droplets, whatever the radius of the bubble, a result which has been confirmed by Isono (1959) and Twomey (1960). Blanchard (1963) (see Day, 1954) found, on the contrary, that the number of small droplets thus formed is not constant and that it is a function of the radius of the bubble; a bubble of 0.15 mm radius produces two droplets and a bubble of 3 mm radius, about 1000 droplets, at the maximum. Recent results by Day (1964) agree relatively well with those of Blanchaid but differ, however, from those of Mason. In effect Day found that the average number of small droplets which form at the time of the bursting of a buolle of salt water varies from 0, when the radius of the bubble is 0.05 mm (50;), to between 300 and 400, when the radius is 2 mm. However, it should be noted that the results obtained by these three authors agree for large bubbles (r < 0.5 mm).

Day (1964) also showed the influence of salinity on the number of droplets in the sense that the droplets are definitely more numerous in the case of salt water than distilled water.

Given the low concentration of salt in sea water, the saturation pressure of droplets formed by the mechanisms set forth differs little from the saturation pressure of droplets of pure water. Since the humidity is generally greater over the oceans, only the small droplets will be sufficiently displaced from the surface by turbulent di Jusion to reach the layers of air in which they evaporate. If the evaporation is complete, the sea salt which they contain crystallizes; during the course of their existence, these small droplets can pass from the liquid state to the solid state several times.

Dessens (1946, 1949) has shown that the salt contained in the droplets shatters when it crystallizes at low relative humidities. A quantitative study of this process carried out by Lodge and Baer (1954), did not reveal a measurable increase in the concentration of nuclei; that results from the fragmentation of large crystals but even this is not always the case. Blanchard and Spencer (1964) arrived at the same conclusion in studying the crystallization of droplets, the radius of which varied between 2.5% and 50%, droplets composed of tea water, of concentrated sea water, or of an aqueous solution containing 3.5% of sodium chloride. Indeed these authors have never noted the formation of small salt nuclei at the time of droplet crystallization. Twomey and McMaster (1955), on the contrary, observed that large droplets of a sea salt

17

solution give birth, when they crystallize, not only to a large particle of salt, but also to a large number of very small fragments. Opinions are thus divided on this question; however, it seems unlikely that sea salt disintegrates when it crystallizes, and the small nuclei composed of this substance ought, therefore, to have a different origin.

3.1.4.2. Release of solid particles

A large part of the continent is covered with solid particles (sand, dust, etc.) which, under the action of the wind, are released from the ground and dispersed in the atmosphere. This source of nuclei is of relatively little importance in regions of high rainfall; but this is not the case for arid regions where the finest of these particles can be lifted very high and, because of this, be transported great distances. On the other hand, the large particles often disintegrate under the mechanical action of the wind giving rise to small particles which can spread through all the troposphere.

In general, the particles released from the soil are of large nuclei or of giant nuclei. Except for the case of violent sand or dust storms, the giant nuclei fall rapidly to the ground and their zone of dispersion is thus limited to the vicinity of their source.

3.1.5. Mechanisms resulting from the entry into the atmosphere of particles of cosmic origin

It is certain that particles of cosmic origin burn or melt when they enter the atmosphere giving rise to nuclei which, for the most part, are probably Aitken nuclei. There are very few direct observations of nuclei thus formed but their concentration ought to be normally low in the lower stratosphere.

In this connection it should be pointed out that the large sulfate nuclei observed in the stratosphere (see 3.1.3.) contain fine, solid, insoluble particles the modal radius of which is about 0.04µ, nuclei similar to those captured at 80 km by rockets (Bemenway, Soberman and Witt, 1963).

Bowen's hypothesis (1953, 1956), according to which certain periodic variations of precipitation result from an influx of ice nuclei formed in the atmosphere at times of meteoritic showers, has attracted attention to nuclei of cosmic origin. This hypothesis has already caused much ink to flow and will continue to foster much, such that the research of this subject will be even more effective than today not only in verifying this hypothesis but in confirming it and at times in refuting it. No further attention will be focused on this question because of the conviction that the portion of the atmospheric aerosol which is of cosmic origin plays chiv a secondary role in meteorology.

3.2. Chemical composition of the atmospheric aerosol

Following the last world war a new, or rather little previously developed, discipline became established: atmospheric chemistry. Concerning the atmospheric aerosol, one actually has a general idea of its composition "en masse". On the contrary, in spite of the development of microchemical techniques, there exist only fragmentary data on the chemical composition of individual nuclei, because of the difficulty in applying these techniques to such small particles as nuclei (see, for example, Junge, 1963b).

In this paper we shal! limit ourselves to a few words on the composition of condensation nuclei, about which the atmospheric droplets form and of ice nuclei which cause or favor the formation of atmospheric ice crystals.

The large nuclei constitute the true nuclei of condensation. Giant nuclei also play this role but, because of their low concentration, are insignificant and can be neglected. As for Aitken nuclei, they become significant only in regions where the number of large nuclei is insufficient, which is probably the case over the oceans.

The majority of the condensation nuclei are mixed nuclei (Junge, 1952) composed of a solid, insoluble particle surrounded by soluble, hygroscopic substances. Microphotography of the evaporative residue of cloud droplets shows, as a matter of fact, that most of the nuclei were apparently droplets before evaporation of the liquid part in the field of the electron microscope. That has also been indirectly demonstrated in simultaneously collecting the atmospheric aerosol at various humidities on clean, dry plates, which capture only droplets, and on plates covered with a film of a viscous substance which captures both droplets and dry particles. Also it may be noted that a considerable portion of atmospheric nuclei act as if they were dry when the relative humidity is less than 70% and as if they were droplets when the relative humidity is greater than this value.

From a certain relative humidity, generally between 70 and 80%, upward the condensation nuclei consist of solution droplets often containing a solid, insoluble particle. Authors persist in terming these droplets condensation nuclei, which sometimes leads to confusion. This is why a distinction should be made between condensation nuclei which, in principle, are solid but can be deliquescent and droplet-nuclei which are liquid and are already in fact atmospheric droplets.

Condensation nuclei have been studied individually with an electron microscope by Junge (1953), Kuroiwa (1953, 1956), Yamamoto and Ohtake (1955), Isono (1959), and Kumai (1965). This method is interesting, but it permits the identification of only the crystalline constituents and it gives no indication of their relative concentration. These observations are evidence that the condensation nuclei are for the most part composed of sea salt, combustion products and particles released from the ground. The percentage of these three types of nuclei differs according to author; those of sea salt nuclei, for example, vary between 10 and 90%. With the available data it is difficult at this time to explain the origin of these variations.

When crystals of natural ice are sublimed, in general one large particle is found in the central part of the crystal and a variable number of very small particles throughout the crystal. Most authors idmit that this large particle is the ice nuclei around which the crystal forms. Several authors (see, for example, Mossop, 1963 and Vali, 1966) have remarked that there is no preemptory reason for assuming that this large particle, rather than one of the smaller ones, gives rise to the formation of the crystal. It is difficult to settle this question with the available data; pending proof to the contrary we shall assume that the large particle is the true ice nucleus.

Individual ice nuclei have been studied by electron microscopy by Kumai (1951, 1957, 1961), aufm Kampe, Weickmann and Kedesdy (1952), Isono (1955, 1959), Kumai and Francis (1962), Kumai and O'Brien (1965) and Rucklidge (1965). These observations have shown that these nuclei mainly consist of mineral particles; from 57 to 88% in nonpolluted regions. Measurements of the threshold activity of samples of different soils have indirectly confirmed these results. Indeed these observations show that this threshold of activity varies between -5°C and -17°C, temperatures between which the first ice crystals appear in natural clouds.

According to Bigg and Miles (1964), soil particles do not constitute the majority of ice nuclei in Australia, which seems to confirm the determinations by Paterson and Spillane (1967) of the threshold of activity of particles of several soils from the arid Australian zone. Ice nuclei in this region of the earth could thus be mainly of cosmic origin, which would confirm Bowen's hypothesis (see 3.1.5.).

4. Physical properties of nuclei

4.1. Movement of the nuclei

4.1.1. Resistance of the air to movement of the nuclei

Air presents a resistance to the movement of nuclei, the action of which is that of a force F which acts in a direction opposite to that of the movement. The form of this force depends on the relation which exists between the radius r of the nucleus (assumed to be spherical) and the mean free path 1 of the molecules of air, free path approximately equal to 0.1μ in normal conditions of temperature and of pressure at the earth's surface.

When the radius of the nucleus is very small in relation to the mean free path of the molecules (r << 1), i.e., when the movement of the nucleus does not perturb the law of the distribution of speed of the molecules (see, for example, Fuchs, 1964),

$$\mathbf{F} = \frac{6\pi n \mathbf{r}^2 \mathbf{v}}{K1} \tag{3}$$

where v is the speed of the nucleus, n the coefficient of dynamic viscosity of the air, K is a numerical coefficient the value of which depends on the hypothesis made concerning the nature of the impacts between the molecules and the nucleus, a coefficient which can, as a first approximation, be assumed to be 1.

When the radius of the nucleus is very large in relation to the mean free path of the molecules (r >> 1), i.e., when the movement of the nucleus perturbs the molecular distribution law and gives rise to hydrodynamic flows, the force F is given by Stokes' Equation (see, for example, Fuchs, 1964).

 $\mathbf{F} = 6\pi \eta \mathbf{r} \mathbf{v} \tag{4}$

In order to establish this formula, it is assumed that there does not exist a discontinuity in speed near the surface of the nucleus, i.e., there exists a thin film of air adjacent to the surface and stationary with respect to the nucleus. This assumption is no longer valid when the radius of the nucleus is not very large with respect to the mean free path of the molecules. In order to take into account the gradient of speed which exists in the air near the surface of the nucleus under that condition, it is necessary to introduce a correction factor into the Stokes Equation which then becomes the Cunningham Equation (see, for example, Fuchs, 1964)

$$F = \frac{6\pi\eta rv}{1 + A(\frac{1}{r})}$$
(5)

where A is a numerical coefficient, the value of which depends on the nature of the surface of the nucleus and which can, as a first approximation, be set equal to 2.

Semiempirical formulas giving the vertex have been proposed when the radius of the nucleus is neither very smaller for very large in relation to the free path of the molecules. In comparing values of F derived from these formulas with values of F drawn from formulae (3), (4), and (5), Fuchs (1964) established the following table:

TABLE 3

Limits of applicability of several formulae for calculating the air resistance to the movement of nuclei

Formula	Admissible Error		
	1%	10%	
(3)	$1 \times 10^{-3} \mu < r < 2 \times 10^{-3} \mu$	$5 \times 10^{-4} \mu < r < 2 \times 10^{-2} \mu$	
(4)	8 µ < r < 15µ	$8 \times 10^{-1} \mu < r < 35 \mu$	
(5)	$1.8 \times 10^{-1} \mu < r < 8 \times 10^{-1} \mu$	$5 \times 10^{-2} \mu < r < 8 \mu$	

From this table, if the admissible error is only 1%, the interval of applicability of each of these formulae is narrow and the ensemble of these intervals does not cover the gamut of atmospheric nuclei radii. In contrast, if an error of 10% is acceptable, formula (4) of Stokes is completely suitable for giant nuclei and formula (3) for Aitken nuclei, except for the largest of these nuclei. As for formula (5) of Cunningham, it is simultaneously suitable for the large Aitken nuclei, the large nuclei and the smallest giant nuclei.

4.1.2. Terminal fall speed of the nuclei

Consider a spherical nucleus of radius r and of density ρ which falls at a speed v in calm air of density ρ' and dynamic viscosity coefficient η .

Assume the nucleus initially at rest at time t = 0. If 0 is the vertical axis through the initial position 0 which is taken as the origin of the 0_x axis, the differential equation of motion may be written:

$$\frac{d^2 z}{dt^2} = \frac{dv}{dt} = g - \frac{F}{m}$$
(6)

where g is the acceleration due to gravity and where

$$m = \frac{4}{3}\pi r^{3}(\rho - \rho^{\dagger})$$
(7)

When the nucleus reaches its terminal speed ($v = C_{ste}$), Equation (6) may be written:

$$mg = F \tag{8}$$

From (4), (5), (7), and (8), the terminal speed of the nuclei is given by the relation:

$$v_1 = \frac{2g(\rho - \rho')r^2}{9\eta}$$
 (9)

for the nuclei for which Stokes Formula (4) is applicable and by the formula

$$v_{1} = \frac{2g(\rho - \rho')r^{2}}{9\eta} (1 + A_{r}^{1})$$
(10)

for the nuclei for which the Cunningham Formula (5) is applicable.

Assume that the atmospheric pressure is equal to 1 atmosphere (1013.25 mb), the temperature 293°K, the relative humidity 50% and the acceleration of gravity 980 cm sec⁻², in which case $\rho' = 1.20 \times 10^{-3} \text{g cm}^{-3}$ and $\eta = 1.818 \times 10^{-4} \text{g cm}^{-1} \text{ sec}^{-1}$. The densities of the nuclei are not well known. Apparently they ought to be between 1 and 2 g cm⁻³. For $\rho = 2 \text{g cm}^{-3}$, formulae (9) and (10) give the values listed in Table 4 for the terminal fall speed of the nuclei.

TABLE 4

Terminal fall speed of a nucleus as a function of its radius.

Stokes Formula (9)		Cunningham Formula (10)		
r(µ)	v ₁ (cm/s)	r (µ)	$v_1(cm/s)$	
40	38.31	5	6.29x10 ⁻¹	
20	9.58	1	2.63×10^{-2}	
10	2.39	5x10 ⁻¹	7.18×10^{-3}	
5	5.99X1 ⁻¹	1x10 ⁻¹	4.79×10^{-4}	
1	2.39x10 ⁻²	5x10 ⁻²	17.96×10^{-5}	

From this table it is seen that, except for the largest of the giant nuclei, the terminal fall speed is very low; it can be agreed that it is negligible when the radius of the nucleus is less than lu.

23

4.1.3. Effect of turbulence on the sedimentation of nuclei

Let n be the concentration of the nuclei and the accumulation of nuclei $\frac{\partial n}{\partial t}$ in a unit volume in a unit time be equal to the convergence (divergence with a change of sign) of the flux \emptyset of the nuclei in this volume

$$\frac{\partial n}{\partial t} = -div\emptyset$$
(11)

In the case under consideration this flux is composed of a diffusive turbulent flux -DVn where D is the coefficient of turbulent diffusion of the nuclei and Vn the ascendant of n, as well as an advective flux nv where v is the speed of the nuclei. Equation (11) may then be written

$$\frac{\partial n}{\partial t} = -\operatorname{div}(-D\nabla n + n\vec{v})$$
(12)

By placing the z axis along the vertical descendant and by assuming homogeneity in the horizontal plane, (12) then takes the following torm:

$$\frac{\partial \mathbf{n}}{\partial \mathbf{t}} = \frac{\partial}{\partial \mathbf{z}} \left(\mathbf{D} \frac{\partial \mathbf{n}}{\partial \mathbf{z}} + \mathbf{v}_1 \mathbf{n} \right)$$
 (13)

where the nucleus speed v has been replaced by its terminal speed v_1 .

Assuming that the regime is permanent $(\frac{\partial n}{\partial t} = 0)$ and integrating Equation (13) with the limiting condition that n = 0 for $z = \infty$,

$$\mathbf{D}\frac{\mathrm{d}\mathbf{n}}{\mathrm{d}\mathbf{z}} + \mathbf{v}_{1}\mathbf{n} = 0 \tag{14}$$

The coefficient of turbulent diffusion D is a function of the altitude z which, over the ocean, can be expressed by the following formula according to Junge (1957):

$$D = \frac{A_{\infty} u_{5} k(z + b)}{A_{\infty} + \rho' u_{5} k(z + b)}$$
(15)

where A_{∞} is the exchange coefficient for $z \rightarrow \infty$, u_{5} the wind speed at a height of 5 m, k Karman's constant, b the roughness parameter and p' the density of air.

Integrating Equation (14), taking (15) into account, with the condition that $n = n_0$ for z = 0, (see Junge, 1957)

$$\frac{1}{b} = \frac{n}{n} = \left(\frac{z+b}{b}\right)^{\frac{v_1}{u_5k}} \exp\left(\frac{b'v_1^2}{A}\right)$$
(16)

where ϵ is the ratio of the nuclei concentration at altitude z to that at the ground (z = 0).

From Tables 5a and b may be found the values of the ratio ε as a function of the radius r of the nuclei and of the height z above the ocean for k = 0.4, b = 4 cm, $\varepsilon = 2g$ cm⁻³, $\varepsilon' = 1.2X10^{-3}g$ cm⁻³ and for the value of v₁ calculated from formula (9).

TABLE 5

Value of the ratio c as a function of the radius r of the nuclei and of the height z above the ocean

a. A = 100 g/cm, s; $u_5 = 500 \text{ cm/s}$

r(;_)	z(m) 10	50	100	200	300	400
1	0.9991	0.9977	0.9962	0.9933	0.9904	0.9875
5	0.977	0.944	0.909	0.844	0.785	0.730
10	0.909	0.795	0.683	0.508	0.380	0.284
15	0.808	0.597	0.424	0.218	0.113	0.059
20	0.684	0.400	0.217	0.067	0.021	0.006
25	0.553	0.239	0.092	0.015	0.002	0.000
30	0.426	0.127	0.032	0.003	0.000	0.000

b. A = 400 g/cm, s; $u_5 = 2,000$ cm/s

r (1)	z(m) 10	50	100	200	300	400
1	0.9998	0.9994	0.9990	0.9983	0.9976	0.9969
5	0.994	0.986	0.976	0.959	0.941	0.924
10	0.977	0.944	0.909	0.844	0.785	0.730
15	0.948	0.879	0.807	0.683	0.580	0.492
20	0.909	0.795	0.683	0.508	0.380	0.284
25	0.862	0.699	0.551	0.347	0.220	0.140
30	0,808	0.597	0.424	0.218	0.113	0.021

Examination of these two tables reveals that the value of i decreases with height and more rapidly than the radius of the nuclei increases. This decrease is very small for nuclei of radius less than 1_{i} , i.e., for large nuclei and Aitken nuclei. Also in comparing these two tables '1 is seen that, for a given radius, the decrease of \pm with height is weaker the stronger the turbulence.

If, as a first approximation, it is assumed with Junge (1957) that the effects of turbulent diffusion and of sedimentation are compensated when $\epsilon < 0.2$, it appears that according to whether the turbulence is weak (Table 5a) or strong (Table 5b) the nuclei of, respectively, 20; and 30, are hardly lifted above the ground.

Above the continents, because of the complexity of the phenomenon due mainly to the irregularity of the surface of the ground and also to the fact that in industrial regions the nuclei are introduced at a certain height (chimneys), it is difficult to establish a formula analogous to (15). According to Junge (1957), it seems that the general trend of the phenomenon is the same over the continents as over the occans, the upper limit of penetration being somewhat greater in the first case than in the second.

4.?. Coagulation of the atmospheric aerosol

4.2.1. General

By coagulation of an aerosol is meant the process by which the constitutive particles of this aerosol adhere to one another when they collide, a process which in effect reduces their concentration. All collisions between particles do not necessarily result in an adherence; practically, it seems that this is a good hypothesis in the case of an atmospheric aerosol consisting of mostly liquid particles.

Several phenomena can cause the coagulation of aerosols. In the case of the atmospheric aerosol, it can result: from differences in the fall speeds of the nuclei (gravitational coagulation), from the presence of an electric field and of charges which the nuclei can carry (electrical coagulation), from turbulence (turbulent coagulation) and finally from Brownian motion (thermal coagulation).

Because of the slow fall rate of nuclei (see 4.1.2.), gravitational coagulation is significant only for giant nuclei for which the concentration, in comparison to the other nuclei, is so low (see 2.1.4.) that this form of atmospheric coagulation may be neglected. Considering the charges which the nuclei normally carry and the intensity of the electric field which normally exists in the atmosphere, electrical coagulation can, as well, in general be neglected (see, for example, Fuchs, 1964). Turbulent coagulation can also be neglected (see, for example, Fuchs, 1964). Such, however, is not the case with thermal coagulation which, as shall be seen, plays an important role in the establishment of the granulometry of the atmospheric aerosol.

4.2.2. Fundamental equations of Brownian motion

Brownian motion refers to the irregular, thermally induced motion of small particles suspended in a fluid.

The fundamental equations of Brownian motion are the following (see, for example, Duclaux, 1938 and Fuchs, 1964):

$$\frac{1}{x^2} = 2 Dt$$
 (17)

$$D = kTB$$
(18)

where x^2 is mean square of the displacement of the particles along the x-axis during time t, D the coefficient of molecular diffusion of the particles, k the Boltzmann constant, Γ the absolute temperature and B the mobility coefficient of the particles.

Recall that, by definition, the mobility coefficient is given by the relation

$$B = \frac{v}{F}$$
(19)

where v is the speed of the particle and F is the resistance of the air to its movement. From the speed as given by formula (3) or by formula (5) it then follows that

$$B = \frac{K1}{6\pi r^2}$$
(20')

$$B = \frac{1 + A(\frac{1}{r})}{\frac{6-rr}{r}}$$
(20")

If the aerosol is isotropic, i.e., if the diffusion coefficient of the particles is independent of the direction of their movement, it may be deduced from (17) (see, for example, Fuchs, 1964) that

$$\frac{\partial \mathbf{n}}{\partial t} = \mathbf{D} \operatorname{div}(\nabla \mathbf{n}) = \mathbf{D} \nabla^2 \mathbf{n}$$
 (21)

where n is the concentration of the particles, $\forall n$ the ascendant and $\forall^2 n$ the Laplacian of this concentration.

4.2.3. Capture of nuclei by a sphere

Consider a stationary sphere of radius R in an unbounded aerosol. The aerosol being assumed isotropic, (21) may be written

$$\frac{\partial \mathbf{n}}{\partial \mathbf{t}} = \mathbf{D}(\frac{\partial^2 \mathbf{n}}{\partial \mathbf{r}^2} + \frac{2}{\mathbf{r}} \frac{\partial \mathbf{n}}{\partial \mathbf{r}})$$
(22)

where n is the nuclei concentration at time t at distance r (r > R) from the center of the sphere under consideration.

By assuming that the regime is permanent $(\frac{\partial n}{\partial t} = 0)$, (22) may be written

$$\frac{\partial^2 n}{\partial r^2} + \frac{2}{r} \frac{\partial n}{\partial r} = 0$$
 (23)

Integrating this equation under the following limiting conditions

$$n = n$$
 for $r = \infty$ and $n = 0$ for $r = R$, (24)

the latter condition expressing that each collision of a nucleus with the sphere results in capture, y elds

$$\frac{\partial \mathbf{n}}{\partial \mathbf{r}} = \frac{\mathbf{R} \mathbf{n}}{\mathbf{r}^2}$$
(25)

Let N represent the number of nuclei which collide with the sphere. From (21) it follows that

$$\frac{\partial N}{\partial t} = \iiint_{V} D \operatorname{div}(\nabla n) \delta v = \iint_{\text{sphere } R} D(\nabla_{N} n) \delta \sigma \qquad (26)$$

where $\nabla_{\mathbf{N}}$ n is composed of the ascendant ∇n along the normal exterior to the sphere.

Because of the spherical symmetry, (26) may be simplified and becomes

$$\frac{\partial N}{\partial t} = \iint_{\text{sphere } R} D(\frac{\partial n}{\partial r})_{r=R} \delta \sigma = 4 - R^2 D(\frac{\partial n}{\partial r})_{v=R}$$
(27)

or also, as calculated from (25),

28

$$J = \frac{\partial N}{\partial t} = 4\pi R D n_{o}$$
(28)

where J is the rate of capture of nuclei by the sphere due to Brownian motion.

4.2.4. Thermal coagulation of the atmospheric aerosol

Consider a spherical nucleus of radius r_1 , assumed stationary, which, as a result of Brownian motion, captures nuclei of radius r_2 . Since the spherical nuclei enter contact when the distance of their centers is equal to the sum of their radii, the assumed stationary particle may be replaced by a "captive sphere" of radius $r_1 + r_2$ and the other particles by their center.

Let us drop the hypothesis of the immobility of the "captive sphere". In Equation (17), the mean square x^2 of the displacement of the particle should then be replaced by the mean square $(x_1 - x_2)^2$ of the relative displacement of the nucleus of r dius r_2 in relation to the one of radius r_1 and thus

$$\overline{(x_1 - x_2)^2} = 2D_{12}.$$
 (29)

where D_{12} is the relative diffusion coefficient of the two nuclei.

But

$$\overline{(x_1 - x_2)^2} = \overline{x_1^2} + \overline{x_2^2} - \overline{2x_1 x_2}$$

or, even further, Equation (17) having been established in admitting the independence of the displacements of the particles,

$$\overline{(x_1 - x_2)^2} = \overline{x_1^2} + \overline{x_2^2}$$
(30)

From (17) and (29) it follows that

$$D_{12} - D_1 + D_2$$
 (31)

where D_1 and D_2 are, respectively, the diffusion coefficients of particles of radii r_1 and r_2 .

For the case under consideration, Equation (28) may be written

$$J_2 = 4 \cdot (r_1 + r_2) (D_1 + D_2) n_2$$
(32)

where J_2 is the rate of capture of nuclei of radius r_2 by a nucleus of radius \tilde{r}_1 . If all nuclei have the same radius $(r_1 = \tilde{r}_2 = r)$, formula (32) may be written $(D_1 = D_2 = D)$

$$J = 16\pi r Dn \tag{32}$$

where D is the diffusion coefficient of nuclei of radius r and n the concentration of these nuclei.

If n is the concentration of nuclei of radius r_1 , the rate of capture of nuclei of radius r_2 by all the nuclei of radius r_1 per unit volume is given by the formula

$$J_{1,2} = 4\pi (r_1 + r_2) (D_1 + D_2) n_1 n_2$$
(34)

Each time a nucleus of radius r_1 collides with a nucleus of radius r_2 , the total number of nuclei is reduced by two units, but since a nucleus of radius $r_1 + r_2$ is formed, the volume concentration $n = n_1 + n_2$ of the nuclei in reality is reduced by only one unit. Therefore,

$$\frac{\partial n}{\partial t} = -4\pi (r_1 + r_2) (D_1 + D_2) n_1 n_2$$
(35)

If all the nuclei have the same radius $(r_1 = r_2 = r)$, formula (35) takes the following form

$$\frac{\partial n}{\partial t} = -16\pi r D n^2$$
(36)

If in (35) $\rm D_1$ and $\rm D_2$ are replaced by their values taken from (18) it follows that

$$\frac{\partial n}{\partial t} = -4\pi kT(B_1 + B_2)(r_1 + r_2)n_1n_2$$
(37)

Consider first the case where formula (5) is applicable; from (20") it follows then that

$$\frac{n}{\sqrt{t}} = \frac{2}{3} \frac{kT}{r_1} \left[\frac{1}{r_1} + \frac{1}{r_2} + A \ell \left(\frac{1}{r_1^2} + \frac{1}{r_2^2} \right) \right] (r_1 + r_2) n_1 n_2 \quad (38)$$

If $r_1 \ll r_2$ and if $n \cong n_2 \gg n_1$, formula (38) takes the following form

$$\frac{-\ln n}{t} = \frac{2}{3} \frac{kT}{r} (1 + \frac{A\ell}{r_2}) \frac{r_1}{r_2} n_1$$
(39)

By integrating this equation between the initial state (t, n) and some state (t, n),

$$\ln \frac{n}{n_{o}} = -\frac{2}{3} \frac{kT}{r} \frac{r_{1}}{r_{2}} (1 + \frac{A\ell}{r_{2}}) n_{1}(t - t_{o})$$
(40)

If the half life, i.e., the time $(t - t_0)$ necessary for $(\frac{n}{n}) = 0.5$, is designated by :, then from (40)

$$\tau = \frac{0.69315}{\frac{2}{3} \frac{kT}{n} \frac{r_1}{r_2} (1 + \frac{A\ell}{r_2}) n_1}$$
(41)

From this formula it is seen that τ is significantly smaller than T, r₁ and n₁ are larger, and that r₂ is very small, the value of τ decreasing rapidly when r₂ becomes smaller than ℓ .

As an example, formula (41) has been used to calculate the capture of atmospheric nuclei of 0.01μ , 0.05μ and 0.10μ radius by cloud droplets of 10μ radius, the concentration of the latter being 200 droplets per cm³. In setting k = 1.3803×10^{-16} erg °K⁻¹, n = 1.818×10^{-4} g cm⁻¹ sec⁻¹, T = 293°K, A = 1 and ℓ = 0.1μ the values contained in Table 6 may be obtained.

TABLE 6

Half life of atmospheric nuclei in a cloud composed of droplets of 10μ radius and of concentration 200 droplets per cm 3

r ₂ (1)	0.01	0.05	0.10
τ(hours)	0.59	10.8	32

31

If all the nuclei have the same radius $(r_1 = r_2 = r)$, formula (38) may be written

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial t} \left(\frac{1}{n}\right) = \frac{8}{3} \frac{kT}{n} \left(1 + A\frac{\ell}{r}\right)$$
(42)

Integrating this equation between the initial state (t , n) and some state (t, n), it follows that

$$\frac{1}{n} - \frac{1}{n_o} = \frac{8}{3} \frac{k\Gamma}{n} (1 + A\frac{\ell}{r})(t - t_o)$$
(43)

from which it can be deduced that

$$\tau = \frac{1}{\frac{8}{3} \frac{kT}{\eta} (1 + A\frac{\ell}{r})n_{o}}$$
(44)

This formula shows, for example, that it takes 312 hours for the concentration of an aerosol containing 1000 nuclei of 0.2μ radius per cm³ to be reduced by a factor of two.

Consider now the case where formula (3) is applicable. From (20') it follows then that

$$\frac{\partial n}{\partial t} = -\frac{2}{3} \frac{kT}{n} K \ell \left(\frac{1}{r_1^2} + \frac{1}{r_2^2} \right) (r_1 + r_2) n_1 n_2$$
(45)

When the aerosol is homogeneous $(r_1 = r_2 = r)$, (45) may be written

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial t} \left(\frac{1}{n} \right) = \frac{8}{3} \frac{kT}{n} \frac{K\ell}{r}$$
(46)

from which can be successively deduced as from (42), the following formulae

$$\frac{1}{n} - \frac{1}{n_0} = \frac{8}{3} \frac{kT}{n} \frac{K\ell}{r} (t - t_0)$$
(47)

$$\tau = \frac{1}{\frac{8}{3} \frac{kT}{n} \frac{K\ell}{r}} \frac{n}{o}$$
(48)

Formula (48) shows, for example, that it takes 0.47 hour for the concentration of an aerosol containing 10^5 nuclei, of 0.01μ radius,

per cm^3 to be reduced by a factor of two. This result shows the importance of thermal coagulation for Aitken nuclei.

Junge (1957) used formula (38) to study the influence of thermal coagulation on the variation in the granulometry of atmospheric nuclei. The results he obtained for a continental aerosol are represented in Fig. 6.

CAPTION Figure 6. Variation with time of the average distribution of the concentration of nuclei as a function of their radius r, as a result of thermal coagulation (Junge, 1957). The curves marked 0^h , 1^h , 4^h , 24^h or 1^d , 3^d , and 7^d correspond, respectively, to the initial distribution (t = 0) and to the distributions after 1 hour, 4 hours, 1 day, 3 days, and 7 days.

For the small Aitken nuclei it is seen that the decrease in concentration as a function of time is rapid and that that of the large Aitken nuclei, of the large nuclei and of the giant nuclei is, on the contrary, insignificant. As a result thermal coagulation has the effect of displacing the peak of the curve of the nuclei distribution toward the large nuclei. Also as a result the life span of nuclei of radius less than $5 \times 10^{-3} \mu$ is ephemeral, because the lower limit of the radii of atmospheric nuclei is a consequence of thermal coagulation. Apparently the decrease of the total mass of Aitken nuclei is compensated by an increase in the total mass of large nuclei. As a consequence thermal coagulation has the effect of transporting Aitken nuclei onto large nuclei which explains why these nuclei are, in general, mixed nuclei.

4.3. Atmospheric scavenging

The mechanisms by which water acts as a scavenging agent in the atmosphere can be divided into two categories (see, for example, Facy, 1960 and Junge, 1963b). In the first category fall the mechanisms capable of transporting nuclei onto cloud particles and in the second the mechanisms causing the capture of nuclei situated in the path of the precipitation particles.

First we shall examine those mechanisms falling in the first category. First of all there is the thermal capture of nuclei by cloud particles which theoretically can be treated as the problem of the coagulation of aerosols, the cloud particles being considered as the nuclei. It is doubtful that the equations of Brownian motion can be applied without reservation in this case. However, it can be agreed that they are usable, without losing sight of the fact that the values obtained constitute only an order of magnitude; the example which we gave earlier (see 4.2.4.) shows this mechanism to be important for the capture of small Aitken nuclei. Secondly, there is the capture of nuclei by cloud particles resulting from the flux of diffusing vapor which entrains nuclei toward the particles. The force exerted by the diffusing vapor transmits to them a speed proportional to the gradient of the vapor and independent of the radius of the particle. It was Facy (1955, 1958) who drew attention to this phenomenon for the case of cloud droplets. According to that author, the action of this mechanism is greater than that of Brownian motion, which is not the opinion of Deriagin and Dukhin (1957), of Severynse (1963) and of Goldsmith, Delafield and Cox (1961, 1963) who have shown theoretically and experimentally that the efficiency of this phenomenon is low within aqueous clouds. Podzimek (1965) is also of this opinion but nevertheless thinks that this phenomenon could be of importance in mixed clouds because of the increased water vapor gradient which should exist around the dendritic points in the neighborhood of the droplets.

Let us now examine the capture of atmospheric nuclei by precipitation particles, i.e., that which is usually referred to as scavenging of the atmosphere because the drops of rain and crystals of snow remove, in particular, impurities suspended in the atmosphere: industrial pollutants, radioactive debris, biological organisms, dust, etc.

Let us assume that the precipitation particles are spheres, which is, as a first approximation, acceptable in the case of drops of rain, but which is difficult to accept in the case of snow crystals. Let us also assume that each collision of a precipitation particle and a nucleus results in a capture which is certainly debatable especially if the nuclei are not wettable. The problem considered, then, is that of the aerodynamic capture of particles by spheres, a complicated problem which has been rigorously solved in only two limiting cases: the first, that of the viscous flow (Reynolds Number Re+0) and the second, that of the potential flow $(Re \rightarrow \infty)$ (see, for example, Herne, 1960 and Fuchs, 1964). For a highly idealized case, Greenfield (1957) found that the scavenging of the atmosphere by rain drops is significant only for those nuclei of radius greater than 5µ. This result has been confirmed by Hess (1959) who has shown that a two-hour rain of an intensity of 1 mm per hour would scavenge 85 to 97% of the nuclei of radius about 5μ . In contrast, a rain of less than one hour of intensity less than 2 mm per hour in practice doesn't capture nuclei of radius equal to 1.5µ.

Walton and Woodcock (1963) have studied in vitro the phenomenon of scavenging by suspending drops of 0.25 mm, 0.5 mm and 1.0 mm radius in a vertical tube in which circulated, at speeds corresponding to different droplet fall speeds, a homogeneous aerosol of particles of methylene blue of radius equal to 2.5μ or to 1.25μ . These authors compared their results with the values calculated by Fonda and Herne (Herne, 1960) assuming the flow at potential speed around a sphere. It was thus established that, for a drop of given radius, the capture coefficient* E decreases rapidly when the particle radius decreases. The variation is practically the same whatever the radius of the droplet: E has a value of about 0.7 for $r = 5\mu$, 0.3 for $r = 2.5\mu$ and 0.01 for $r = 1\mu$. $\frac{1}{2}$

* The capture coefficient is the ratio between the number of particles captured by the sphere and the number of particles contained in the volume swept out by the sphere. This coefficient can be greater than one, because particles not in this volume can be aspirated in the trail and collide with the sphere.

Starr and Mason (1966) have studied in vitro the capture, by water drops of radius varying between 0.1 mm and 1.0 mm, of lycoperdon spores. of spores of a blight (ustilago nuda) and of grains of a pollen (paper mulberry) of which the mean radii \overline{r} were respectively 2.25 μ , 2.6 μ and 6.4μ . For the two kinds of spores, the capture coefficient E increased rapidly as the radius of the drops increased, passed through a maximum when the radius was about 0.4 mm, then decreased more slowly. For the lycoperdon spores the value of E is about 0.05 when the radius of the drops is 0.1 mm and 1.0 mm and in the vicinity of 0.15 when the radius is 0.4 mm. For the ustilago nuda spores, these values are, respectively, near 0.10 and 0.20. These results correspond relatively well with the values calculated under the assumption of potential flow for the descending part of the flow where this assumption is valid. For the paper mulberry grains, the capture coefficient is about 0.50 when the radius of the drops is 0.1 mm; it then increases slowly passing through a poorly defined maximum at about 0.70 when that radius is close to 0.4 mm, then decreases very slowly and is still 0.60 when the radius is 1.0 mm. These results correspond well with the calculations of Langmuir derived from an interpolation between viscous flow and potential flow (see, for example, Herne, 1960).

Engelmann (1965) studied in vivo the phenomenon of scavenging of the atmosphere by causing an artificial rain, of drop radius between 0.2 mm and 0.8 mm, to fall in a horizontal plane of particles of zinc sulfide of radius varying between 1.8μ and 7.0μ . In this manner it was found: that the capture coefficient E is greater than one when the particle radius exceeds 6.5μ , whatever the radius of the drops; that this coefficient is a maximum when the radius of the drops is near 0.2 mm and that it passes through an ill defined minimum when this radius is close to 0.4 mm; that this coefficient increases for a given radius of the drops when the dimensions of the particles increase, the increase becoming rapid when the radius of the particles exceeds 5μ .

The results of these studies, very different from certain points of view, nevertheless agree on one point - knowledge that the scavenging of the atmosphere by rain drops becomes significant only for nuclei of radius greater than several microns. This phenomenon thus has little effect on the major portion of the atmospheric aerosol and affects only the giant nuclei.

Little is known about the scavenging of the atmosphere by solid precipitation. Starr and Mason (1966) studied the capture of lycoperdon spores ($\overline{r} = 2.25\mu$) and pollen grains of paper mulberry ($\overline{r} = 6.4\mu$) through pieces of tissue paper cut in the form of a circle, of a hexagon, or of a star in order to simulate snow crystals. The capture coefficients deduced from the number of particles captured by the lower face of these simulated crystals are very low and less than 0.05. Nevertheless it should be noted that the upper face of these pieces of paper captured a number of particles essentially equal to that which was observed on the lower face which seems to indicate that the effect of aspiration is important in the case of snow crystals.

Further observations are necessary to clear up the problem of the scavenging of the atmosphere, a problem of importance not only in meteorology but also in industry, for example in the suppression of dust by aspiration.

4.4. Remarks

According to Junge (1961), the vertical variation of the concentration n of the nuclei of a homogeneous aerosol in the vertical plane can be calculated, in a permanent regime $(\frac{\partial n}{\partial t} = 0)$, by neglecting the varia-

tion of D and of v_1 with z by means of the differential equation

$$\frac{\partial n}{\partial t} = D \frac{d^2 n}{dz^2} - v_1 \frac{dn}{dz} - bn^2 - an = 0$$
(49)

where D is the coefficient of turbulent diffusion of the nuclei, z the altitude, v_1 the terminal speed of the nuclei, b the coefficient of thermal coagulation and a the coefficient of scavenging.

The different terms of equation (49) represent: the first, the effect of turbulent diffusion (see Eq. 13); the second, the effect of sedimentation (see Eq. 13); the third, the effect of thermal coagulation (see Eq. 36) and the fourth, the effect of scavenging. This equation does not take into account that which could be termed the effect of condensation resulting from the formation of atmospheric droplets around condensation nuclei, a significant factor for large nuclei. For Aitken nuclei: the effect of turbulent diffusion is important; the effect of coagulation equally so, especially for the small nuclei; the effect of scavenging is weak and the effect of sedimentation is negligible. Equation (49) then takes the form

$$D \frac{d^2 n}{dz^2} - bn^2 \stackrel{>}{=} 0$$
 (50)

an equation utilized by Selezneva (1966) to study the vertical distribution of Aitken nuclei.

For large nuclei: the effect of turbulent diffusion is important; the effect of scavenging begins to become significant; the effect of coagulation practically disappears and the effect of sedimentation remains negligible. Equation (49) then takes the form

$$D \frac{d^2 n}{dz^2} - an \neq 0$$
 (51)

an equation used by Junge (1961) to study the vertical distribution of Aitken nuclei above 5 km, in making the debatable assumption that the effect of scavenging is more important than the effect of coagulation in this part of the atmosphere.

For giant nuclei: the effect of turbulent diffusion is important for the small nuclei within this category but decreases rapidly as the size increases; the effect of sedimentation undergoes an inverse variation; the effect of scavenging increases rapidly with the size of the nuclei and becomes important when the radius exceeds about 5µ; the effect of coagulation is negligible. Equation (49) then takes the form

$$D \frac{d^2 n}{dz^2} - v_1 \frac{dn}{dz} - an = 0$$
 (52)

If the effect of scavenging is disregarded, this equation may be written

$$D \frac{d^2 n}{dz^2} - v_1 \frac{dn}{dz} = 0$$
 (53)

an equation used by Junge (1957) to study the effect of turbulence on the sedimentation of nuclei (see 4.1.3.).

We shall no longer stress these equations which not only strongly idealize the phenomena but which are also difficult to utilize, lacking accurate data on the value of the coefficients which they contain, especially in regard to that concerning the effect of scavenging.

38

BIBLIOGRAPHY

A MINAN CONTRACT

- aufm. KAMPE, H.J., WEICKMANN, H.K. and KEDESDY, H.H., 1952: Remarks on "Electron-microscope study of snow-crystal nuclei". Journ. Met., 9, 374-375.
- BIGG, E.K., 1964: Atmospheric stratification revealed by twilight scattering. <u>Tellus</u>, 16, 76-83.
- BIGG, E.K. and MILES, G.T., 1964: The results of large-scale measurements of natural ice nuclei. Journ. Atm. Sc., 21, 396-403.
- BLANCHARD, D.C. and SPENCER, A.T., 1964: Condensation nuclei and the crystallization of saline drops. Journ. Atm. Sc., 21, 182-186.
- BLANCHARD, D.C. and WOODCOCK, A.H., 1957: Bubble formation and modification in the sea and its meteorological significance. <u>Tellus</u>, 9, 145-158.
- BOWEN, E.G., 1953: The influence of meteoritic dust on rainfall. <u>Austr.</u> <u>Journ. Phys.</u>, 6, 490-497.
- BOWEN, E.G., 1956: The relation between rainfall and meteor showers. Journ. Met., 13, 142-151.
- BURCKHARDT, H. and FLOHN, H., 1939: Die atmosphärischen Kondensationskerne in ihre physikalischen meteorologischen und bioklimatischen Bedeutung. <u>Abhandlungen aus dem Gebiet der Bäder und Klimateil-</u> <u>kunde</u>, H. 3, 126 pp.
- BYERS, H.R., SIEVERS, J.R. and TUPTS, B.J., 1957: Distribution in the atmosphere of certain particles capable of serving as condensation nuclei. <u>Artificial stimulation of rain</u>. (Weickmann, H. and Smith, W., London, Pergamon Press), 47-70.
- CAUER, H., 1951: Some problems of atmospheric chemistry. <u>Compendium</u> of meteorology (Malone, T.F., Boston, Amer. Met. Soc.), 1126-1136.
- CHAGNON, C.W. and MUNCE, C.E., 1961: The vertical distribution of sub-micron particles in the stratosphere. Journ. Met., 18, 746-752.
- UROZIER, W.D., SEELY, B.K. and WHEELER, L.B., 1952: Correlation of chloride particle abundance with the synoptic situation on a crosscountry flight. <u>Bull. Amer. Met. Soc</u>., 33, 95-100.

- DAY, G.J., 1955: Some airborne observations of condensation nucleus concentration. <u>Geof. Pura Appl.</u>, 31, 169-181.
- DAY, J.A., 1964: Production of droplets and salt nuclei by the bursting of air-bubble films. Q.J., 90, 72-78.
- DERIAGIN, B.V. and DUKH^TN, S.S., 1957: Influence of thermophorosis on the coagulation of cloud drops. <u>Akad. Nauk.</u> <u>SSR, Izv., Ser. Geof.</u>, 6, 779-784.
- DESSENS, H., 1946: La brume et le brouillard étudiés à l'aide de fils d'araignées. <u>Ann. Géoph</u>., 2, 276-278.
- DESSENS, H., 1949: The use of spiders' threads in the study of condensation nuclei. Q.J., 75, 23-27.
- DUCLAUX, J., 1938: XI. <u>Mouvement brownien II. Partie théorique</u>. Actualités scientifiques et industrielles, n°700, Paris, Hermann.
- DUFOUR, L., 1966. Noyaux glacogènes dans l'atmosphère. <u>Ciel et Terre</u>, 82, 1-34.
- DURBIN, W.G. and WHITE, G.D., 1961: Measurements of the vertical distribution of atmospheric chloride particles. <u>Tellus</u>, 13, 260-275.
- ELTERMAN, L. and CAMPBELL, A.B., 1964: Atmospheric aerosol observations with searchlight probing. <u>Journ. Atm. Sc</u>., 21, 457-458.
- ENGELMANN, R.J., 1965: Rain scavenging of zinc sulfide particles. <u>Journ.</u> <u>Atm. Sc.</u>, 22, 719-727.
- FACY, L., 1951: Eclatement de lames minces et noyaux de condensation. Journ. Scient. Mét., 3, 86-98.
- FACY, L., 1955: La capture des noyaux de condensation par chocs moléculaires au cours des processus de condensation. <u>Arch. f. Met.</u>, <u>Geoph. und Biokl.</u>, A 8, 229-236.
- FACY, L., 1958: Sur un mécanisme de capture des particules d'aérosols par une gouttelette en voie de condensation-évaporation. C.R., 246, 3161-3164.
- FACY, L., 1960: Les mécanismes naturels de lessivage de l'atmosphère. <u>Geof. Pura Appl.</u>, 46, 200-215.
- FENN, R.W., 1960: Measurements of the concentration and size distribution of particles in the arctic air of Greenland. <u>Journ. Geoph. Res.</u>, 65, 3371-3376.

FENN, R.W., 1964: Aerosol-Verteilungen und atmosphärisches Streulicht. <u>Beit. Phys. Atm.</u>, 37, 69-104.

- FENN, R.W., GERBER, H.R. and WEICKMANN, H.K., 1965: Distribution of aerosol particles in the troposphere. <u>Proc. Int. Conf. Cloud Phys.</u>, <u>Tokyo and Sapporo, May 24-June 1, 1965</u>, 62-66.
- FRIEND, J.P., 1966: Properties of the stratospheric aerosol. <u>Tellus</u>, 18, 465-473.
- FUCHS, N.A., 1964: <u>The mechanics of aerosols</u>. Pergamon Press. Oxford (translated from Russian by κ. E. Daisley and M. Fuchs).
- COETZ, A., 1957: An instrument for the quantitative separation and size classification of airborne particulate matter down to 0.2 micron. <u>Geof. Pura Appl.</u>, 36, 49-69.
- GOETZ, A., 1965: The constitution of aerocolloidal particulates above the ocean surface. <u>Proc. Int. Conf. Cloud Phys.</u>, Tokyo and Sapporo, May <u>24-June 1, 1965</u>, 42-46.
- GOETZ, A. and KALLAI, T., 1964: Determination of size and mass distribution of aerosols. <u>ASTM Spécial Technical Publication</u>, n° 352, 40-55.
- COETZ, A. and PREINING, O., 1960: The aerosol spectrometer and its application to nuclear condensation studies. <u>Amer. Geoph. Union, Geoph.</u> <u>Monogr</u>, n° 5, 164-183.
- COLDSMITH, P., DELAFIELD, H.J. and COX, L.C., 1961: Measurements of the deposition of submicron particles on gradients of vapour pressure and of the efficiency of this mechanism in the capture of particulate matter by cloud droplets in nature. <u>Geof. Pura Appl.</u>, 50, 278-280.
- COLDSMITH, P., DELAFIELD, H.J. and COX, L.C., 1963: The role of diffusionphoresis in the scavenging of radioactive particles from the atmosphere. <u>Q.J.</u>, 88, 43-61.
- GREENFIELD, S.M., 1957: Rain scavenging of radioactive particulate matter from the atmosphere. <u>Journ. Met</u>., 14, 115-125.
- HEMENWAY, C.L., SOBERMAN, R.K. and WITT, G., 1963: Particle sampling from noctulicent clouds. <u>Nature</u>, 199, 269-270.
- HERNE, H., 1960: The classical computations of the aerodynamic capture of partic'es by spheres. Int. Journ. Air Poll., 3, 26-34.
- HESS, P., 1957: Untersuchungen über den Ausfall von Aerosolpartikeln durch Niederschlägen und Wolkenbildung. <u>Ber. Deut. Wetterd.</u>, 7, n^o 51, 67-73.

HESSTVEDT, E., 1959: Mother of pearl clouds in Norway. <u>Geof. Publ.</u>, 20, 1-29.

HODGE, P.W., 1961: Sampling dust from stratesphere. <u>Smithsonian Contri-</u> butions to Astrophysics, 5, 145-152.

- HOSLER, C.L., 1950: Preliminary investigation of condensation nuclei under the electron microscope. <u>Trans. Amer. Geoph. Union</u>, 31, 707-710.
- ISONO, K., 1955: On ice-crystal nuclei and other substances found in snow crystals. Journ. Met., 12, 456-462.

ISONC, K., 1959: Microphysical processes in precipitation mechanism. Jap. Journ. Geoph., 2, 1-57.

- ISONO, K., KOMABAYASI, M., TAKAHASHI, T. and GONDA, T., 1996: A physical study of solid precipitation from convective clouds over the sea: Part. IV - Importance of giant sea salt nuclei in formation of solid precipitation. Journ. Met. Soc. Japan., ser. 11, 44, 308-319.
- ISFAEL, H. and SCHULZ, L., 1932: Über die Grössenverteilung der atmosphärischen Ionen. M.Z., 49, 226-233.
- JUNGE, C.E., 1952: Die Kons ation des atmosphärischen Aerosols. Ann. Met., Beiheft., 1-55.
- JUNGE, C., 1953: Die Rolle der Aerosole und gasförmigen Beimengungen der Luft im Spurenstoffhaushalt der Troposphäre. <u>Tellus</u>, 5, 1-26.
- JUNGE, C.E., 1955: The size distribution and aging of natural aerosols as determined from electrical and optical data on the atmosphere. Journ. Met., 12, 13-25.
- JUNGE, C.E., 1957: Remarks about the size distribution of natural aerosols. <u>Artificial stimulation of rain</u> (Weickmann, H. and Smith, W., London, Pergamon Press), 3-17.
- JUNGE, C.E., 1961: Vertical profiles of condensation nuclei in the stratosphere. Journ. Met., 18, 501-509.
- JUNGE, C., 1963a: Large scale distribution of condensation nuclei in the troposphere. Journ. Rech. Atm., 1, 185-190.

Acres 14 Acres 64

JUNGE, C.E., CHAGNON, C.W. and MANSON, J.E., 1981: Stratospheric aerosols. Journ. Met., 18, 81-108.

- JENGE, C.E., and MANSON, J.E., 1961: Stratospheric aerosol studies. <u>Journ.</u> <u>Geoph. Res.</u>, 66, 2163-2182.
- KIENTZLER, C.F., ARONS, A.B., BLANCHARD, D.C. and WOODCOCK, A.H., 1954: Photographic investigation of the projection of droplets by bubbles bursting at a water surface. Tellus, 6, 1-7.
- KNELMAN, F., DOMBROWSKI, N. and NEWITT, D.M., 1954: Mechanism of the bursting of bubbles. <u>Nature</u>, 173, 261.
- KUMAI, M., 1951: Electron-microscope study of snow-crystal nuclei. Journal Met., 8, 151-156.
- KUMAI, M., 1957: Electron-microscope study of snow-crystal nuclei: II. <u>Geof. Pura Appl.</u>, 36, 169-181.
- KUMAI, M., 1961: Snow crystals and the identification of the nuclei in the northern United States of America. <u>Journ. Met</u>., 18, 139-150.
- KUMAI, M., 1965: The properties of marine air and marine fog at Barrow, Alaska. <u>Proc. Int. Conf. Cloud. Phys.</u>, Tokyo and Sapporo, May 24-June 1, 1965, 52-56.
- KUMAI, M. and FRANCIS, K.E., 1962: Nuclei in snow and ice crystals on the Greenland ice cap under naturally and artificially stimulated conditions. Journ. Atm. Sc., 19, 474-481.
- KUMAI, M. and O'BRIEN, H.W., 1965: A study of ice fog and ice-fog nuclei at Fairbanks, Alaska. Part. II. <u>U.S. Army Mat. Command, Cold Reg.</u> Res. Eng. Lab., Res. Rep. 150.
- KUROIWA, D., 1953: Electron-microscope study of atmospheric condensation nuclei. <u>Studies on fogs</u> (Hori, T., Sapporo, Hokkaido), 349-382.
- KUROIWA, D., 1956: The composition of sea-fog nuclei as identified by electron microscope. <u>Journ. Met</u>., 13, 408-410.
- LAKTIONOV, A.G., 1960: The results of the investigations of natural aerosols over different regions of the USSR. <u>Moscou, Akad, Nauk.,</u> <u>1zv., Ser. Geof., 556-574; Washington, Nat. Acad. Sc., Nat. Res.</u> <u>Counc., Amer. Geoph. Union, Bull. Acad. Sc. USSR, Geoph. Ser</u>., 373-378.

43

LANDSBERG, H.E., 1938: Atmospheric condensation nuclei. <u>Erg. kosm.</u> <u>Phys</u>., 3, 155-252.

- LINKE, F., 1943: Kondensationskerne im Elektronenmikroskop sichtbar gemacht. <u>Naturwissenschaften</u>, 31, 230-231.
- LODGE, J.P., Jr., 1962: Identification of aerosols. Advances in geophysics, vol. 9, 97-130.
- LODGE, J.P., 1955: A study of sea-salt particles over Puerto Rico. Journ. Met., 12, 493-499.
- LODGE, J.P., and BAER, F., 1954: An experimental investigation of the shatter of salt particles on crystallization. <u>Journ. Met.</u>, 11, 420-421.
- MARTELL, E.A., 1966: The size distribution and interaction of radioactive and natural aerosols. <u>Tellus</u>, 18, 486-498.
- MASON, B.J., 1954: Bursting of air bubbles at the surface of sea water. <u>Nature</u>, 174, 470-471.
- MASON, B.J., 1957: The ocean as source of cloud-forming nuclei. <u>Geof.</u> <u>Pura Appl</u>., 36, 148-155.
- MAY, K.R., 1945: The cascade impactor: An instrument for sampling coarse aerosols. <u>Journ. Sc. Inst.</u>, 22, 187-195.
- MESZAROS, E., 1964: Répartition verticale de la concentration des particules de chlorures dans les basses couches de l'atmosphère. Journ. Rech. Atm., 1, 2^e ann., 1-10.
- METNIEKS, A.L., 1958: The size spectrum of large and giant sea-salt nuclei under maritime conditions. <u>Geoph. Bull. School Cosmic Phys.</u>, 15, 1-50.
- MOORE, D.J., and MASON, B.J., 1954: The concentration, size distribution and production rate of large salt nuclei over the oceans. <u>Q.J.</u>, 80, 583-590.
- MDSSOP, S.C., 1963: Atmospheric ice nuclei. <u>Zeit. ang. Math. Phys.</u>, 14, 456-486.
- MOSSOP, S.C., 1964: Volcanic dust collected at an altitude of 20 km. <u>Nature</u>, 203, 824-827.
- MOSSOP, S.C., 1965: Stratospheric particles at 20 km. altitude. <u>Geo-</u> <u>chimica et Cosmochimica Acta</u>, 29, 201-207.

NEWKIRK, G. Jr. and KROENING, J.L., 1965: Aerosols in the stratosphere: A comparison of techniques of estimating their concentration. <u>Journ.</u> <u>Atm. Sc</u>., 22, 567-570. Chine of the

- NOLAN, P.J. and DOHERTY, D.J., 1950: Size and charge distribution of atmospheric condensation nuclei. <u>Proc. Roy. Irish Acad.</u>, A 53, 163-179.
- PATERSON, M.P. and SPILLANE, K.T., 1967: A study of Australian soils as ice nuclei. Journ. Atm. Sc., 24, 50-53.
- PENNDORF, R., 1954: The vertical distribution of Mie particles in the troposphere. U.S.A.F., Geoph. Res. Pap., 25, 1-12.
- PODZIMEK, J., 1965: L'influence du courant de Stephan sur la capture des particules d'AgI sur les éléments des nuages. <u>Journ. Rech. Atm.</u>, 2, 19-26.
- PODZIMEK, J. and CERNOCH, I., 1961: Höhenverteilung der Konzentrationen von Riesenkernen aus Chloriden und Sulphaten. <u>Geof. Pura Appl.</u>, 50, 96-101.
- RAMANA MURTY, B.V., SRIVASTAVA, R.C. and KAPOOR, R.K., 1962: "Giant" hygroscopic nuclei in surface air in Delhi. <u>Ind. Journ. Met. Geoph.</u>, 13, Spl. No, 9-16.
- RAU, W., 1955: Grösse und Häuffigheit der Chloridteilchen im kontinentalen Aerosol und ihre Beziehung zum Gefrierkerigehalt. <u>Met. Rund.</u>, 8, 169-175.
- REEGER, E. and SIEDENTOPF, H., 1950: Staubmessungen in der freien Atmosphäre. Zeit. Met., 4, 136-140.
- ROSSMANN, F., 1950: Luftelektrische Messungen mittels Segelflugzeugen. Ber. deut. Wetterd. U.S. Zone, 15, 1-54.
- RUCKLIDGE, J., 1965: The examination by electron microscope of ice crystal nuclei from cloud chamber experiments. <u>Journ. Atm. Sc.</u>, 22, 301-308.
- SAGALYN, R.C. and FAUCHER, G.A., 1954: Aircraft investigation of the large ion contents and conductivity of the atmosphere and their relation to meteorological factors. <u>Journ. Atm. Terr. Phys.</u>, 5, 253-272.
- SELEZNEVA, E.S., 1965: Distribution of condensation nuclei in the atmosphere on days with convective clouds. <u>Studies of clouds, precipita-</u> <u>tion, and thunderstorm electricity</u> (Amer. Met. Soc.), 105-109.

SELEZNEVA, E.S., 1966: The main features of condensation nuclei distribution in the free atmosphere over the European territory of the U.S.S.R. <u>Tellus</u>, 18, 525-531.

- SEMONIN, R.G., 1966: Observations of giant particles in the Midwest. Journ. Rech. Atm., 2, 2^e ann., 251-260.
- SEVERYNSE, G.T., 1963: Removal of aerosol particles from the atmosphere by growing cloud droplets. <u>Geof. Pura Appl.</u>, 55, 151-163.
- STARR, J.R. and MASON, B.J., 1966: The capture of airborne particles by water drops and simulated snow crystals. Q.J., 92, 490-499.
- TESTER, J., 1964: Condensation nuclei counts on the slopes of Little Whiteface Mountain in New York State. <u>Pure Appl. Geoph.</u>, 57, 181-188.
- TOBA, Y. and TANAKA, M., 1963: Study of dry fallout and its distribution of giant sea-salt nuclei in Japan. <u>Journ. Met. Soc. Japan</u>, 41, 135-144.
- TWOMEY, S., 1955: The distribution of sea-salt nuclei in air over land. Journ. Met., 12, 81-86.
- TWOMEY, S., 1960: On the nature and origin of natural cloud nuclei. <u>Bull. Obs. Puy de Dôme</u>, 1, 1-19.
- TWOMEY, S. and McMASTER, K.N., 1955: The production of condensation nuclei by crystallizing salt part cles. <u>Tellus</u>, 7, 458-461.
- TWOMEY, S. and SEVERYNSE, G.T., 1964: Size distributions of natural aerosols below 0.1 micron. <u>Journ. Atm. Sc.</u>, 21, 558-564.
- VALI, G., 1966: Sizes of atmospheric ice nuclei. Nature, 212, 384-385.
- WALTON, W.H. and WOODCOCK, A., 1960: The suppression of airborne dust by water spray. <u>Int. Journ. Air Poll</u>., 3, 129-153.
- WATSON, H.H., 1936: A system for obtaining dust samples from mine air. <u>Trans. Int. Min. Metall</u>., 46, 155.
- WEICKMANN, H., 1957: Recent measurements of the vertical distribution of Aitken nuclei. <u>Artificial stimulation of rain</u> (Weickmann, H. and Smith, W., London, Pergamon Press), 81-88.
- WEICKMANN, H.K., 1966: Aitken nuclei as tracer in cloud physics research. Journ. Rech. Atm., 2, 2^e ann., 153-157.

WIGAND, A., 1919: Die vertikale Verteilung des Kondensationskerne in der freien Atmosphäre. <u>Ann. Phys.</u>, 54, 1919, 689-742.

The second states

ţ

あいたちまたちょうというと

WOODCOCK, A.H., 1952: Atmospheric salt particles and raindrops. <u>Journ.</u> <u>Met.</u>, 9, 200-212.

WOODCOCK, A.H., 1953: Salt nuclei in marine air as a function of altitude and wind force. <u>Journ. Met.</u>, 10, 362-371.

WOODCOCK, A.H., 1957: Atmospheric sea-salt nuclei data for Project Shower. <u>Tellus</u>, 9, 521-524.

WOODCOCK, A.H. and GIFFORD, M., 1949: Sampling atmospheric sea-salt nuclei over the ocean. <u>Journ. Mar. Res.</u>, 8, 177-197.

YAMAMOTO, G. and OHTAKE, T., 1953: Electron microscope study of cloud and fog nuclei. <u>Tohoku Univ., Sc. Rep., 5^e sér., Geophysics</u>, 5. 141-159.

Atte WARE and